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* If the form is filed by more than one reporting person, see Instruction 4(b)(v).

** Intentional misstatements or omissions of facts constitute Federal Criminal Violations. See 18 U.S.C. 1001 and 15 U.S.C. 78ff(a).

(1) The terms of the grant provide for vesting in equal installments over ten years on the anniversary date of the grant, October 24, 2007.

Note: File three copies of this Form, one of which must be manually signed. If space provided is insufficient, see Instruction 6 for procedure.
Potential persons who are to respond to the collection of information contained in this form are not required to respond unless the form displays
a currently valid OMB number. r 2011, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update 2011-08, “Testing Goodwill for
Impairment” (ASU 2011-08). Under the revised guidance, entities testing for goodwill impairment have an option of
performing a qualitative assessment before calculating the fair value for a reporting unit (i.e., Step 1 of the traditional
goodwill impairment test). If an entity determines, on a basis of qualitative factors, that the fair value of a reporting
unit is more likely than not less than the carrying amount, the first step of the two-step impairment test would be
required. If it is not more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than the carrying value, then
goodwill is not considered to be impaired. ASU 2011-08 does not change how goodwill is calculated or assigned to
reporting units, nor does it revise the requirement to test goodwill at least annually for impairment. This ASU is
effective for interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2011, and the Group adopted the guidance
effective January 1, 2012. The adoption of this guidance did not change, nor would it be expected to change, the
conclusions reached in periodic impairment evaluations for goodwill; moreover, the Group utilized the traditional
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two-step quantitative approach for all of its reporting units.

Recently Issued

In December 2011, the FASB issued ASU 2011-11, “Disclosures about Offsetting Assets and Liabilities.” This ASU
requires an entity to disclose both gross and net information about instruments and transactions eligible for offset in
the statements of financial position as well as instruments and transactions executed under a master netting or similar
arrangement and was issued to enable users of financial statements to understand the effects or potential effects of
those arrangements on financial position. ASU 2011-11 is to be applied retrospectively and is effective for fiscal
years, and interim periods within those years, beginning on or after January 1, 2013. In January 2013, the FASB
issued ASU 2013-01, “Balance Sheet (Topic 210): Clarifying the Scope of Disclosures about Offsetting Assets and
Liabilities.” The ASU 2013-01 amendments clarify that the scope of ASU 2011-11 applies to derivatives accounted for
in accordance with ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging, including bifurcated embedded derivatives, repurchase
agreements and reverse repurchase agreements, and securities borrowing and securities lending transactions that are
either offset in accordance with ASC 210-20-45 or ASC 815-10-45 or subject to an enforceable master netting
arrangement or similar agreement. The effective date is the same as the effective date of ASU 2011-11. The adoption
of this guidance is expected to have minimal impact, if any, on the Group’s financial statements due to the lack of or
infrequent use of derivative instruments.

In July 2012, the FASB issued ASU 2012-02, “Intangibles – Goodwill and Other: Testing Indefinite Lived Intangible
Assets for Impairment” (ASU 2010-012). This ASU applies to all entities that have indefinite-lived intangible assets,
other than goodwill, reported in their financial statements. Under the ASU, an entity has the option first to assess
qualitative factors to determine whether the existence of events and circumstances indicates that it is more likely than
not that an indefinite-lived intangible asset is impaired. If, after assessing the totality of events and circumstances, an
entity concludes that it is not more likely than not that an indefinite-lived intangible asset is impaired, then the entity is
not required to take further action. The amendments to the guidance are effective for annual and interim impairment
tests performed for fiscal years beginning after September 15, 2012, with early adoption permitted. The Group will
adopt this guidance beginning January 1, 2013; the adoption is not expected to impact the financial statements as the
conclusions reached under a qualitative assessment approach, versus a strictly qualitative approach, should be similar
for the Group’s limited indefinite-lived intangible assets.

F-26
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SHANDA GAMES LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010, 2011 AND 2012
(Amounts expressed in thousands unless otherwise stated)

4. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

The Group completed the following acquisitions during the years ended December 31, 2010, 2011 and 2012:

Acquisition completed in 2012

In July 2012, the Group acquired a 70% equity interest in eFusion, a game operating company which mainly provides
services in Germany, for cash consideration of €2.3 million (approximately RMB18.4 million). Total identifiable
intangible assets acquired of approximately RMB12.3 million mainly represented the trademark and customer
database. The weighted average amortization period for the identifiable intangible assets acquired is 5 years. The
goodwill associated with this acquisition was RMB0.7 million. The non-controlling interest arising from this
acquisition was RMB5.5 million.

Based on an assessment of the acquired company’s financial performance made by the Group and the amounts
involved in the acquisition, this acquisition is not material to the Group. Accordingly, presentation of the purchase
price allocation, pro forma financial information, and other disclosures was not warranted.

Acquisition completed in 2011

In April 2011, the Group acquired a 51.85% equity interest in a game operating company which mainly provides
services in East Asia, for total consideration of US$3.0 million (approximately RMB18.9 million) in cash and
assumption of liabilities of RMB10.4 million. Total identifiable intangible assets acquired of approximately RMB25.7
million mainly represent a trademark, software technology and customer database. The weighted average amortization
period for the identifiable intangible assets acquired is 4.4 years. The goodwill associated with this acquisition was
RMB5.2 million. Certain non-controlling shareholders have a right to require the Group to purchase the outstanding
non-controlling interests held by them after the completion of the acquisition at a fixed price if the game operating
company fails to complete an initial public offering before 2014. Therefore, upon the date of consolidation, the related
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non-controlling interests were recognized at fair value (using an income approach to measurement) and are presented
as redeemable non-controlling interests in the consolidated balance sheet. As the initial public offering of the game
acquiree cannot be anticipated or considered probable until it happens, the redemption of the non-controlling interests
is considered probable and accretion of RMB0.6 million in the redemption value was recognized in retained earnings
to adjust the initial carrying amount to the redemption value of RMB14.0 million at the consolidation date. No further
accretion adjustments were required after the consolidation date.

Based on an assessment of the acquired company’s financial performance made by the Group and the amounts
involved in the acquisition, this acquisition was not material to the Group. Accordingly, presentation of pro forma
financial information with regard to a summary of the results of operations for the acquisition completed in 2011 is
not necessary.

Acquisitions completed in 2010

(1) Goldcool

On January 1, 2010, the Group acquired all of the equity interests of Goldcool Holdings Limited, as well as its wholly
owned subsidiary Kuyin and VIE Shanghai Hongli (collectively known as “Goldcool”), one of the leading online game
developers and operators in China. Pursuant to the acquisition agreement, the total purchase consideration was
RMB120 million in cash.

The allocation of the purchase price to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their fair values was as
follows:

RMB Amortization
Period

Cash 26,730
Other assets 14,817
Identifiable intangible assets
Trademark 9,410 20 years
Software technology 41,560 3~6 years
Customer database 6,370 5 years
Purchased in-progress research and development 23,870
Deferred tax liabilities (17,084 )
Goodwill 25,077
Current liabilities (10,750 )
Purchase price 120,000

F-27
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SHANDA GAMES LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010, 2011 AND 2012
(Amounts expressed in thousands unless otherwise stated)

The fair value of identifiable intangible assets was measured primarily by the income approach taking into
consideration historical financial performance and estimates of future performance of Goldcool’s business. The
weighted average amortization period for the identifiable intangible assets acquired was 7.2 years. Purchased
in-progress research and development of RMB23.9 million was capitalized as an indefinite-lived intangible asset
subject to impairment testing until completion or abandonment. Total goodwill of RMB25.1 million represents the
excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair value of the net tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired
and is not deductible for tax purposes. Goodwill primarily represents the expected synergies from combining game
operations of the Group and Goldcool and any other intangible benefits that would accrue to the Group that do not
qualify for separate recognition.

(2) Mochi Media, Inc. (“Mochi”)

Acquisition of Mochi

On January 15, 2010, the Group acquired all of the equity interests of Mochi, which operates a leading platform for
distributing and monetizing browser-based games worldwide. Pursuant to the acquisition agreement, the total
purchase consideration was US$64.3 million (approximately RMB438.6 million), which consisted of US$60.7 million
in cash and the issuance of 622,222 Class A ordinary shares with an aggregate fair value of US$3.3 million on the
acquisition date and the grant of 962,963 options to replace the outstanding employee options of Mochi with fair value
of US$0.3 million which is attributable to employees’ pre-combination services.

The Group also granted 2,068,219 restricted shares to the employees of Mochi on the acquisition date. The restricted
shares vest over 2 to 4 years and were considered awards for post combination services. As result, the compensation
expense is being recognized on straight line basis over the vesting period.

The allocation of the purchase price to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their fair values was as
follows:
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RMB Amortization
Period

Cash 35,193
Other assets 17,470
Identifiable intangible assets
Trademark 218,442 20 years
Software technology 184,310 7 years
Deferred tax liabilities (161,101)
Goodwill 163,617
Current liabilities (15,220 )
Long term liabilities (4,118 )
Purchase price 438,593

The fair value of identifiable intangible assets was measured primarily by the income approach taking into
consideration historical financial performance and estimates of future performance of Mochi’s business. The weighted
average amortization period for the identifiable intangible assets acquired was 14.1 years. Total goodwill of
RMB163.6 million represents the excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair value of the net tangible and
identifiable intangible assets acquired and is not deductible for tax purposes. Goodwill primarily represents the
expected synergies from combining game operations of the Group and Mochi and any other intangible benefits that
would accrue to the Group that do not qualify for separate recognition.

F-28
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SHANDA GAMES LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010, 2011 AND 2012
(Amounts expressed in thousands unless otherwise stated)

Subsequent divestiture of Mochi

At the end of March 2012, the Group closed the transfer of 100% of the equity interests in Mochi to Shanda Online
Entertainment Limited (“Shanda Online”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Shanda, in exchange for 6.2% of the equity
interests of Shanda Online. The transaction was primarily driven by the Group’s strategy to focus on more
intensive-play or advanced online games, versus the games offered on Mochi’s platform, which are mostly mini casual
games. Mochi’s business model, which is centered on distribution and network services for online games, as well as
the provision of advertising services, is also different from the Group’s core business model.

As the share swap transaction occurred between entities under the common control of Shanda, no gain or loss was
recognized in the Group's statement of operations. After the closing of the transfer, the Company deconsolidated
Mochi at its net carrying amount of RMB370.7 million and recorded the 6.2% equity interest in Shanda Online of
RMB127.4 million at Shanda’s carry–over basis as a long-term investment (under the cost method) included in
“investment in affiliated companies” on the consolidated balance sheet. The excess of RMB243.4 million of the net
carrying amount deconsolidated for Mochi over the 6.2% equity interest acquired in Shanda Online was treated as a
contribution to Shanda, and was recognized as a charge of RMB244.0 million to additional paid-in capital and an
increase of RMB0.6 million in other comprehensive income.

The Group has not reflected the divestiture of Mochi as a discontinued operation for accounting purposes as the Group
will have continuing involvement with Mochi on a prospective basis.

(3) Eyedentity

On September 1, 2010, the Group acquired all of the equity interests of Eyedentity, one of the leading online game
developers in Korea. Pursuant to the acquisition agreement, the total purchase consideration was US$76.5 million
(approximately RMB520.8 million) in cash. As of December 31, 2012, non-contingent purchase consideration of
RMB10.0 million due on the third anniversary of the acquisition date had not yet been paid and is included as an
acquisition related obligation in other payables and accruals.
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The Group will pay US$2.8 million to purchase all outstanding stock options issued by Eyedentity on the acquisition
date. The consideration was allocated between pre-combination and post-combination services for US$1.6 million and
US$1.1 million, respectively. The pre-combination component was included as purchase consideration in the business
combination and the post-combination component is being recognized as share based compensation expense on a
straight line basis over the remaining vesting period. In addition, the Group will also pay the shareholders US$15.9
million (RMB98.9 million) if they continue to provide service to Eyedentity in the three years after the acquisition.
Amounts due under this arrangement are expected to be paid in 2013 upon the satisfaction of the employment
conditions and are included in “other payables and accruals” on the consolidated balance sheet. For the years ended
December 31, 2010, 2011 and 2012, the Group accrued expense in the amounts of RMB14.8 million, RMB29.6
million and RMB33.1 million, respectively.

The allocation of the purchase price to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their fair values was as
follows

RMB Amortization
Period

Cash 25,600
Other assets 55,752
Identifiable intangible assets
Software technology 356,189 6~10 years
Non-compete arrangement 13,621 3 years
Purchased in-progress research and development 89,218
Deferred tax liabilities (102,693)
Goodwill 123,425
Current liabilities (40,313 )
Purchase price 520,799
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SHANDA GAMES LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010, 2011 AND 2012
(Amounts expressed in thousands unless otherwise stated)

The fair value of identifiable intangible assets was measured primarily by the income approach taking into
consideration historical financial performance and estimates of future performance of Eyedentity’s business. The
weighted average amortization period for the identifiable intangible assets acquired was 6.7 years.

Total goodwill of RMB123.4 million represents the excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair value of the
net tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired and is not deductible for tax purposes. Goodwill primarily
represents the expected synergies from combining game operations of the Group and Eyedentity and any other
intangible benefits that would accrue to the Group that do not qualify for separate recognition.

On October 10, 2012, Games International, a Singaporean subsidiary of the Group which previously was the 100%
owner of Eyedentity, closed the sale of 532,066 common shares of Eyedentity or 20.5% of Eyedentity’s outstanding
equity interests, to the Group’s majority-owned (51% owned) Korean subsidiary Actoz for cash consideration, due in
two installments, of KRW113.5 billion (US$106.6 million or RMB643.7 million). As of December 31, 2012, Actoz
paid the initial payment of KRW60.0 billion (US$53.9 million or RMB339.9 million). The amount remitted to Games
International reflected the KRW60.0 billion net of tax withholding for Korean capital gains tax and securities
transaction tax of KRW13.0 billion (US$11.7 million or RMB73.7 million). The second installment payment of
KRW53.6 billion (US$48.2 million or RMB303.8 million) will be paid to Games International before the first
anniversary of the closing date, with interest accrued at the rate of 3.7% per annum. After the closing of the sale, as
Eyedentity's controlling shareholder, the Group continued to consolidate Eyedentity in its consolidated financial
statements. This transfer of a portion of Eyedentity’s equity to Actoz was undertaken on the basis of enhancing Actoz’s
publishing capabilities as Eyedentity has strong game intellectual properties as well as better aligning Eyedentity and
Actoz for research and development cooperation.

The Eyedentity share transfer occurred between entities under common control. Accordingly, no gain or loss was
recognized in the Group's results of operations. Games International de-recognized 20.5% of the net assets of
Eyedentity with amount of RMB111.3 million for cash consideration of RMB643.7 million at the transaction date.
The difference of RMB532.4 million represented a contribution to Games International credited to Games
International’s equity. However, because the transaction effectively resulted in a deemed contribution of equity from
Actoz to Games International, the portion of the deemed contribution attributable to Actoz’s 49% non-controlling
interest, or RMB260.0 million, was charged to equity attributable to non-controlling shareholders. The
transaction-related capital gains tax was apportioned to the Group’s controlling interest in Actoz and the
non-controlling interests in Actoz based upon the relative ownership percentages. Of the total tax of RMB73.7

Edgar Filing: DXP ENTERPRISES INC - Form 5

Explanation of Responses: 10



million, RMB36.4 million attributable to the controlling interest was charged to income tax expense, with the balance
of RMB37.3 million charged to equity for the portion attributable to the transaction with the non-controlling interests
of Actoz.

(4) Unaudited Pro Forma information on 2010 acquisitions

The following unaudited pro forma consolidated financial information reflects the results of operations for the year
ended December 31, 2010, as if the respective acquisitions had occurred on January 1, 2010, and after giving effect to
purchase accounting adjustments. These pro forma results have been prepared for comparative purposes only and do
not purport to be indicative of what operating results would have been had the acquisition actually taken place at the
beginning of the period, and may not be indicative of future operating results.

Year Ended December 31,
2010
Unaudited
RMB

Net revenues 4,525,472
Net income 1,285,234
Earnings per ordinary share
Basic 2.25
Diluted 2.25

F-30
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SHANDA GAMES LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010, 2011 AND 2012
(Amounts expressed in thousands unless otherwise stated)

The pro forma net income for 2010 includes RMB14.4 million for the amortization of identifiable intangible assets, as
well as RMB3.5 million for the amortization of deferred tax liabilities using the actual effective income tax rate of the
respective acquired businesses in 2010.

(5) Other acquisitions

In July 2010, the Group acquired all of the equity interests of a global micropayment solution provider, which mainly
provides the service in South East Asia. Pursuant to the acquisition agreement, the total purchase consideration was
US$2.5 million (approximately RMB17.0 million) in cash. Total identifiable intangible assets acquired of
approximately RMB13.7 million mainly represent the trademark and billing platform. The weighted average
amortization period for the identifiable intangible assets acquired was 15.2 years.

Based on an assessment of other acquired companies’ financial performance and the amounts involved in the
acquisitions, none of the acquired companies on their own or in total is (are) considered material to the Group.
Therefore, pro forma financial information with regard to a summary of the results of operations of the Group for the
other business combinations completed in 2010 is not necessary.

5. OTHER INCOME

For the years ended December 31,
2010 2011 2012
RMB RMB RMB

Government financial incentives 232,302 184,961 146,273
Foreign exchange (loss) / gain (5,164 ) 25,852 (3,408 )
Loss recognized on foreign currency forward contracts (Note 22) — — (22,476 )
Bank charges (410 ) (10,296 ) (18,823 )
Donation expenses (5,812 ) (1,092 ) (182 )
Others 6,007 (5,175 ) (10,247 )

226,923 194,250 91,137
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Government financial incentives represent cash subsidies received from the government. Cash subsidies which have
no defined rules and regulations to govern the criteria necessary for companies to enjoy the benefits are recognized as
other income when received. Other cash subsidies received from the government, for which the Group has to meet
certain obligations, are initially recorded as liabilities and recognized as other income upon fulfilling the obligations.

Bank charges represent fees assessed by third party banks in relation to various short-term borrowings drawn from the
banks by the Group (Note 14) and are expensed at the time they are incurred due to the short term nature of the
borrowings (generally one year or less) and the insignificance of the charges to the Group’s results of operations.

6. TAXATION

Cayman Islands

Under the current laws of the Cayman Islands, the Company is not subject to tax on its income or capital gains. In
addition, upon payments of dividends by the Company to its shareholders, no Cayman Islands withholding tax will be
imposed.

F-31

Edgar Filing: DXP ENTERPRISES INC - Form 5

Explanation of Responses: 13



SHANDA GAMES LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010, 2011 AND 2012
(Amounts expressed in thousands unless otherwise stated)

Hong Kong

The Group’s subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong were subject to a 16.5% tax rate for the years ended December
31, 2010, 2011 and 2012, respectively. No Hong Kong profit tax has been provided as the Group did not have
assessable profit that was earned in or derived from Hong Kong subsidiaries during the years presented.

Singapore

Games International is subject to income tax on taxable income as reported in its statutory financial statements
adjusted in accordance with Singapore income tax legislation. Games International was subject to an income tax rate
of 17% for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2011 and 2012.

Germany

eFusion is subject to income tax on taxable income as reported in its statutory financial statements adjusted in
accordance with Germany income tax law. eFusion was subject to an income tax rate of 15% for the year ended
December 31, 2012.

China

The PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, among other things, impose a unified income tax rate of 25% for both domestic
and foreign invested enterprises.
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Relevant governmental regulatory authorities have established qualification criteria, application procedures and
assessment processes for “high and new technology enterprises”, which will be entitled to a favorable statutory tax rate
of 15%. An enterprise’s qualification as a “high and new technology enterprise” is re-assessed by the relevant PRC
governmental authorities every three years.

Shengqu, Shanghai Shulong and Chengdu Aurora were recognized as “high and new technology enterprises” in 2008
and enjoyed the 15% preferential rate status through the end of 2010. After the qualification expired on December 31,
2010. Shengqu and Chengdu Aurora reapplied for the qualification in 2011 and were approved. These two entities are
therefore entitled to a preferential tax rate of 15% for 2011, 2012 and 2013. Shanghai Shulong was subject to 25%
income tax rate in 2011 and 2012. In 2010, Lansha also obtained the “high and new technology enterprise” for a
three-year period which expired December 31, 2012. In 2012, Shengji obtained approval for “high and new technology
enterprise” status which is effective for three years from 2012 to 2014.

In April 2010, Shengji, as “a software development enterprise,” was granted a two-year EIT exemption followed by a
three year 50% EIT reduction on its taxable income, which is effective retroactively from January 1, 2009. However
in 2012, Shengji was assessed by the relevant tax bureau and asked to pay additional tax charges of RMB21.9 million
because Shengji did not qualify to enjoy the preferential tax rate of 12.5% for the year of 2011. The retroactive tax
charges were recorded in 2012 as income tax expense. Beyond the immaterial additional tax charge for Shengji in
2012, the Group did not have any other material uncertain tax positions. Accordingly, the applied tax rates for 2010,
2011 and 2012 for Shengji were 0%, 25% and 15%, respectively.

As Chengdu Aurora also qualified as a “software development enterprise,” it was granted a three year 50% EIT”)
reduction on its taxable income from 2009 to 2011. The applicable tax rates for 2010, 2011 and 2012 for Chengdu
Aurora were 12.5%, 12.5% and 15%, respectively.

The Corporate Income Tax Law also imposes a 10% withholding tax for dividends distributed by a foreign invested
enterprise to its immediate holding company outside China. Where an appropriate tax treaty is in place between the
PRC and another relevant jurisdiction, rates below 10% may be available. Holding companies in Hong Kong, for
example, are subject to a 5% withholding tax rate. The Group accrued no withholding taxes in 2010 as there were no
dividend distributions in the year ended December 31, 2010. In 2011 and 2012, in light of the special dividend
declared to shareholders described in Note 2(29) and the necessity of distributing a portion of accumulated profits for
such dividend, and the possibility of dividends in the future based upon past experience, withholding tax was accrued,
and continues to be accrued, based on a 5% tax rate. Amounts accrued and recognized in income tax expense were
RMB116.5 million and RMB54.5 million, respectively in 2011 and 2012, for all the undistributed profits in the PRC
subsidiaries.
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SHANDA GAMES LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010, 2011 AND 2012
(Amounts expressed in thousands unless otherwise stated)

Korea

Actoz and Eyedentity are subject to income tax on taxable income as reported in their statutory financial statements
adjusted in accordance with the Corporate Income Tax Law of the Republic of Korea (the “Korea Income Tax Laws”).
Under the Korean Income Tax Laws, corporations were subject to a tax rate of 11% for the years ended December 31,
2010, 2011 and 2012(or 24.2% if the corporation’s taxable income was greater than KRW200 million for such year).
The foregoing tax rates include resident tax surcharges in accordance with the Korea Income Tax Laws and local tax
laws. Actoz and Eyedentity were subject to a tax rate of 24.2% in 2010, 2011 and 2012.

Pursuant to the Korea Income Tax Laws, dividends distributed by a foreign invested enterprise to its immediate
holding company outside Korea will be subject to 15% withholding tax, unless any such foreign investor’s jurisdiction
of incorporation has a tax treaty with Korea that provides for a different withholding arrangement. According to the
Korea and Singapore Taxation Arrangement, dividends paid by a foreign invested enterprise in Korea to its direct
holding company in Singapore will be subject to withholding tax at a rate of no more than 10% (if the foreign investor
owns directly at least 25% of the shares of the foreign invested enterprise, which continues to be true after Games
International’s sales of 20.5% of Eyedentity’s equity interests to Actoz) Eyedentity planned to distribute dividends to
Games International in 2012, and withholding tax was accrued at 10% in the amounts of RMB17.5 million and
RMB5.5 million in 2011 and 2012, respectively. The accrued withholding tax was fully paid in 2012.

Composition of income tax expense

Earnings before income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2011, and 2012 were taxed within the
following jurisdictions (where “mainland” excludes Hong Kong):

For the years ended December 31,
2010 2011 2012
RMB RMB RMB

PRC mainland entities 1,640,669 1,662,221 1,583,250
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Non-PRC mainland entities (30,274 ) 119,050 (6,912 )
Total 1,610,395 1,781,271 1,576,338

The current and deferred portions of income tax expense included in the consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive income during the years ended December 31, 2010, 2011 and 2012 are as follows:

For the years ended December 31,
2010 2011 2012
RMB RMB RMB

Current income tax expense
PRC mainland entities 237,793 302,621 267,397
Non-PRC mainland entities 72,325 98,441 112,833
Total 310,118 401,062 380,230
Deferred income tax expense (benefit)
PRC mainland entities 4,584 (14,962 ) 12,505
Non-PRC mainland entities (14,350 ) (34,800 ) (33,933 )
Total (9,766 ) (49,762 ) (21,428 )
Withholding tax
PRC mainland entities — — —
Non-PRC mainland entities — 133,978 59,960
Total — 133,978 59,960
Income tax expense
PRC mainland entities 242,377 287,659 279,902
Non-PRC mainland entities 57,975 197,619 138,860
Total 300,352 485,278 418,762
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SHANDA GAMES LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010, 2011 AND 2012
(Amounts expressed in thousands unless otherwise stated)

Reconciliation of the differences between statutory tax rate and the effective tax rate

The reconciliations between the statutory rate and the Group’s effective tax rate for the years ended December 31,
2010, 2011 and 2012 are as follows:

For the years ended December 31,
2010 2011 2012
RMB RMB RMB

Statutory income tax rate 25 % 25 % 25 %
Effect of qualified lower tax rates awarded to certain PRC entities (12 )% (8 )% (8 )%
Tax rate effect related to overseas subsidiaries — — —
Effect of withholding taxes — 8 % 4 %
Effect of change in valuation allowance 4 % 1 % 3 %
Non-deductible expenses incurred in PRC 1 % 1 % —
Tax paid for the sale of equity interests in Eyedentity to Actoz — — 2 %
Others 1 % — 1 %
Effective income tax rate 19 % 27 % 27 %

The effect of qualified lower tax rates awarded to certain PRC entities, as included in the preceding and following
tables, specifically refers to the reduced statutory tax rates awarded by relevant authorities to certain PRC entities for
defined periods to “high and new technology enterprises” and “software development enterprises” as described earlier. The
aggregate amount and per share effect of the qualified lower tax rates are as follows:

For the years ended December 31,
2010 2011 2012

(in thousands, except per share data) RMB RMB RMB
Aggregate effect 195,935 145,224 131,127
Basic ordinary share effect 0.34 0.26 0.24
Diluted ordinary share effect 0.34 0.26 0.24
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Significant components of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are as follows:

December 31, 2011 December 31, 2012
RMB RMB

Deferred tax assets
Licensing fees and related costs and deferred revenues 31,317 29,704
Temporary differences related to deductible expenses 42,831 54,903
Other temporary differences 37,803 19,317
Foreign tax credits of Actoz and Eyedentity 174,938 200,264
Development costs 3,433 1,563
Less: Valuation allowance (189,219 ) (215,080 )
Total deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowance 101,103 90,671
Deferred tax liabilities
Intangible assets arising from business combinations 260,186 102,420
Withholding taxes 72,910 53,516
Total deferred tax liabilities 333,096 155,936
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SHANDA GAMES LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010, 2011 AND 2012
(Amounts expressed in thousands unless otherwise stated)

Movement of valuation allowances

For the years ended December 31,
2010 2011 2012
RMB RMB RMB

Balance at beginning of year 123,949 180,169 189,219
Current year additions 56,220 9,050 37,172
Current year disposal due to divestitures — — (11,311 )
Balance at end of year 180,169 189,219 215,080

Valuation allowances have been provided on the net deferred tax assets due to the uncertainty surrounding their
realization. As of December 31, 2010, 2011 and 2012, the majority of valuation allowances were provided because it
was more likely than not that the Group would not be able to utilize certain foreign tax credit carry forwards generated
by a subsidiary. If events occur in the future that allow the Group to realize more of its deferred tax assets than the
presently recorded amount, an adjustment to the valuation allowances will increase net income when those events
occur. In 2012, a portion of the valuation allowance was de-recognized as a result of the divestiture of Mochi.

As of December 31, 2012, total tax credit carry forwards of KRW12,960 million (equivalent to RMB75.8 million),
KRW9,539 million (equivalent to RMB55.8 million), KRW11,287 million (equivalent to RMB66.0 million) and
KRW555 million (equivalent to RMB3.2 million) will expire in 2015, 2016, 2017 and 2018, respectively.

7. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic and diluted earnings per ordinary share attributable to the Company’s shareholders are calculated in accordance
with ASC 260, “Earnings Per Share.” Earnings per ordinary share do not differ between Class A and Class B ordinary
shares, as there are no differences between the share classes as it relates to distributions of earnings. Reconciliations of
the numerator and denominator of the per-share computations for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2011 and 2012
are as follows:
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For the years ended December 31,
2010 2011 2012

(in thousands, except share and per share data) RMB RMB RMB
Numerator:
Net income attributable to Shanda Games Limited’s ordinary
shareholders for basic and diluted earnings 1,288,821 1,264,316 1,113,430

Denominator:
Weighted-average ordinary shares outstanding for basic calculation 570,645,594 567,138,809 554,813,612
Dilutive effect of share options 149,463 39,884 28,461
Denominator for diluted calculation 570,795,057 567,178,693 554,842,073
Net income per ordinary share attributable to Shanda Games Limited’s
shareholders -basic 2.26 2.23 2.01

Net income per ordinary share attributable to Shanda Games Limited’s
shareholders -diluted 2.26 2.23 2.01
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SHANDA GAMES LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010, 2011 AND 2012
(Amounts expressed in thousands unless otherwise stated)

For 2010, 2011 and 2012, the Group excluded 33,587,516, 30,448,623 and 27,646,400, respectively, outstanding
weighted average stock options and restricted shares from the calculation of diluted earnings per common share
because their effects were anti-dilutive.

8. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents as of December 31, 2012 include cash balances held by the VIEs of approximately
RMB536.2 million. These cash balances cannot be transferred to the Company by dividend, loan or advance
according to existing PRC laws and regulations (Note 27). However, these cash balances can be utilized by the Group
for its normal operations pursuant to various agreements which enable the Group to substantially control the VIEs as
described in Note 2(3) for its normal operations.

Included in the cash and cash equivalents are cash balances denominated in U.S. dollars of approximately US$96.1
million and US$56.1 million (approximately RMB605.0 million and RMB352.7 million) as of December 31, 2011
and 2012, respectively, and cash balances denominated in Korean Won of approximately KRW10,568.0 million and
KRW14,214.9 million (approximately RMB61.8 million and RMB83.1 million) as of December 31, 2011 and 2012,
respectively.

9. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

December 31,
2011

December 31,
2012

RMB RMB
Accounts receivable 75,866 112,482
Less: Allowance for doubtful accounts (3,109 ) (6,636 )

72,757 105,846

The movements of the allowance for doubtful accounts during the years ended December 31, 2010, 2011 and 2012 are
as follows:
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For the Years Ended December 31,
2010 2011 2012
RMB RMB RMB

Balance at beginning of year 2,041 3,919 3,109
Add: Current year additions 3,420 1,752 3,696
Less: Current year reversal (30 ) — —
Current year write-offs (1,512 ) (2,137 ) (204 )
Foreign currency translation — (425 ) 35
Balance at end of year 3,919 3,109 6,636

10. INVESTMENTS IN AFFILIATED COMPANIES

The following table includes the Group’s carrying amounts and percentages of ownership of the investments in
affiliated companies under the equity and cost methods as of December 31, 2012 and the carrying amounts as of
December 31, 2011:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010, 2011 AND 2012
(Amounts expressed in thousands unless otherwise stated)

December
31, 2011 December 31, 2012

RMB RMB Percentage
Ownership

Investment in affiliated companies under the equity method:
Beijing Chenkang Technology Co., Ltd ("Beijing Chenkang") 9,820 8,722 25%
Shanghai Maishi Information Technology Co., Ltd. ("Shanghai Maishi") 4,578 4,237 20%
WIP-KIF MCI Investment Fund("MCI Investment Fund") 4,186 5,912 27%
Chengdu Awata Network Technology Co., Ltd. ("Chengdu Awata") 3,989 — 20%
Beijing Yicheng Tianxia Technology Co., Ltd. ("Beijing Yicheng Tianxia") 3,460 — 40%
Anipark Co., Ltd. (“Anipark”) 3,077 1,550 11%
Shanghai Lantian Information Technology Co., Ltd. ("Shanghai Lantian") 2,690 — 23%
Shanghai Shimai Information Technology Co., Ltd ("Shanghai Shimai") 2,050 1,181 25%
Shanghai Siyuan Digital Technology Co.; Ltd ("Shanghai Siyuan" 1,941 1,916 20%
Shanghai Qiyu Information Technology Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai Qiyu”) 829 — 20%
Fuzhou Lingyu Computer Technology Co., Ltd. (“Fuzhou Lingyu”) 319 — 30%
Xiamen Lianyu Science and Technology Co., Ltd. (“Xiamen Lianyu”) 297 — 30%
Chongqing Xiaoheiwu Technology Co., Ltd. (“Chongqing Xiaoheiwu”) 38 — 23%
Shanghai Shengduo Network Technology Co.,Ltd ("Shanghai Shengduo") — 8,842 40%
Shanghai Ningle Technology Co.,Ltd ("Shanghai Ningle") — 8,759 40%
AKG Investment Co., Ltd ("AKGI Fund") — 5,783 17%
Fuzhou Shudong Network Technology Co.,Ltd ("Fuzhou Shudong") — 1,675 30%
Chengdu Yunyou Network Technology Co.,Ltd ("Chengdu Yunyou") — 1,277 30%
Others 8 312 20%-40%
Investment in affiliated companies under the cost method:
Zhejiang Shengwang Huashi Technology Co.,Ltd ("Zhejiang Shengwang") 600 600 6%
Shanda Online Entertainment Limited (“Shanda Online”) — 127,387 6%
Giant Dream Co., Ltd ("Giant") — 8,773 8%
Total 37,882 186,926

The movements of the investments in affiliated companies are as follows:

Balances at
January 1,
2010

InvestmentsShare of Profits /(Losses)
Other Equity
Movement

Balances at
December 31, 2010
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RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB
Investment in affiliated companies under the equity
method:
Anipark 6,751 — (3,851 ) 123 3,023
Shanghai Qiyu 829 — — — 829
Xiamen Lianyu 505 — (208 ) — 297
Fuzhou Lingyu 319 — — — 319
Beijing Yicheng Tianxia — 8,000 (158 ) — 7,842
Shanghai Maishi — 4,800 429 — 5,229
Chengdu Awata — 5,000 — — 5,000
Shijiazhuang Hailan Online Game Development
Co., Ltd. ("Shijiangzhuang Hailan") — 4,000 (339 ) — 3,661

Shanghai Lantian — 3,000 (134 ) — 2,866
Shenzhen Youyou Digital Technology Co.,
Ltd.(“Shenzhen Youyou”) 123 3,000 (926 ) — 2,197

Chongqing Xiaoheiwu — — 151 — 151
Others 176 202 (340 ) — 38
Total 8,703 28,002 (5,376 ) 123 31,452
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FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010, 2011 AND 2012
(Amounts expressed in thousands unless otherwise stated)

Balances at
January 1,
2011

Investments
Share of
Profits /
(Losses)

Impairment
Other
Equity
Movement

Balances at
December
31,
2011

RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB
Investment in affiliated companies
under the equity method:
Beijing Yicheng Tianxia 7,842 — (4,382 ) — — 3,460
Shanghai Maishi 5,229 — (651 ) — — 4,578
Chengdu Awata 5,000 — (1,011 ) — — 3,989
Anipark 3,023 — 2,386 — (2,332 ) 3,077
Shijiazhuang Hailan 3,661 — (267 ) (3,394 ) — —
Shanghai Lantian 2,866 — (176 ) — — 2,690
Shenzhen Youyou 2,197 — — (2,197 ) — —
Shanghai Qiyu 829 — — — — 829
Fuzhou Lingyu 319 — — — — 319
Xiamen Lianyu 297 — — — — 297
Chongqing Xiaoheiwu 151 — (113 ) — — 38
Beijing Chenkang — 10,000 (180 ) — — 9,820
MCI Investment Fund — 4,324 (171 ) — 33 4,186
Shanghai Shimai — 1,733 317 — — 2,050
Shanghai Siyuan — 2,000 (59 ) — — 1,941
Others 38 317 (106 ) — (241 ) 8
Investment in affiliated companies
under the cost method:
Zhejiang Shengwang — 600 — — — 600
Total 31,452 18,974 (4,413 ) (5,591 ) (2,540 ) 37,882

Balances at
January 1,
2012

Investments
Share of
Profits /
(Losses)

Impairment
Other
Equity
Movement

Balances at
December
31,
2012

RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB
Investment in affiliated companies
under the equity method:
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Beijing Chenkang 9,820 — (1,098 ) — — 8,722
Shanghai Maishi 4,578 — (341 ) — — 4,237
MCI Investment Fund 4,186 2,247 (892 ) — 371 5,912
Chengdu Awata 3,989 — (325 ) (3,664 ) — —
Beijing Yicheng Tianxia 3,460 — (3,460 ) — — —
Anipark 3,077 — (1,616 ) — 89 1,550
Shanghai Lantian 2,690 — (47 ) (2,643 ) — —
Shanghai Shimai 2,050 — (869 ) — — 1,181
Shanghai Siyuan 1,941 — (25 ) — — 1,916
Shanghai Qiyu 829 — — (829 ) — —
Fuzhou Lingyu 319 — — (319 ) — —
Xiamen Lianyu 297 — (297 ) — — —
Chongqing Xiaoheiwu 38 — (38 ) — — —
Shanghai Shengduo — 10,000 (1,158 ) — — 8,842
Shanghai Ningle — 9,000 (241 ) — — 8,759
AKGI Fund — 5,655 (63 ) — 191 5,783
Fuzhou Shudong — 2,000 (325 ) — — 1,675
Chengdu Yunyou — 1,400 (123 ) — — 1,277
Suzhou Shengyou Network
Development Co., Ltd. — 1,000 (1,000 ) — — —

Others 8 65 239 — — 312
Investment in affiliated companies
under the cost method:
Zhejiang Shengwang 600 — — — — 600
Shanda Online — 127,387 — — — 127,387
Giant — 8,334 — — 439 8,773
Total 37,882 167,088 (11,679 ) (7,455 ) 1,090 186,926

11. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment and its related accumulated depreciation as of December 31, 2011 and 2012 are as follows:

December 31, 2011 December 31, 2012
RMB RMB

Computer equipment 422,983 378,837
Leasehold improvements 22,757 38,329
Furniture and fixtures 29,493 30,505
Motor vehicles 10,500 5,958
Less: Accumulated depreciation (255,258 ) (264,561 )
Net book value 230,475 189,068

Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2011 and 2012 was approximately RMB57,017,
RMB74,439 and RMB82,897, respectively.
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12. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets consist of upfront licensing fees paid to online game licensors, software and copyrights, and
intangible assets arising from business combinations. Gross carrying amounts, accumulated amortization and net book
value of the Group’s intangible assets as of December 31, 2011 and 2012 are as follows:

December 31, 2011 December 31, 2012
RMB RMB

Gross carrying amounts:
Upfront licensing fee paid 473,471 553,580
Software, copyrights and others 145,184 153,946
Intangible assets arising from business combinations
— Software technologies* 833,349 724,100
— Non-compete arrangements 34,848 34,848
— Trademarks 308,492 94,181
— Customer databases 14,271 19,308

1,809,615 1,579,963
Less: accumulated amortization
Upfront licensing fees paid (397,888 ) (441,877 )
Software, copyrights and others (114,183 ) (122,936 )
Intangible assets arising from business combinations
— Software technologies (293,206 ) (343,422 )
— Non-compete arrangements (16,780 ) (21,321 )
— Trademarks (40,984 ) (26,144 )
— Customer databases (4,304 ) (8,715 )

(867,345 ) (964,415 )
Add: Gross carrying amount of intangible assets with indefinite life*
— In-progress research and development with indefinite life 95,218 6,000

Less: accumulated impairment (42,740 ) (43,197 )
Net book value 994,748 578,351

* Software technologies includes assets reclassified from in-progress research and development with indefinite life
after completion of the associated research and development efforts. Amounts reclassified were nil and RMB 89.2
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million during 2011 and 2012, respectively. The remaining RMB6 million of in-progress research and development
had been impaired (via accumulated impairment) prior to December 31, 2011.

Amortization expense for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2011 and 2012 amounted to approximately
RMB246,579, RMB278,375 and RMB188,298, respectively.

The estimated aggregate amortization expense for each of the five succeeding fiscal years is as follows:

Amortization
RMB

2013 155,139
2014 134,233
2015 114,835
2016 80,738
2017 33,496
Total 518,441
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13. GOODWILL

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill from significant acquisitions are as follows:

Actoz Chengdu
Aurora

Shanghai
Shulong

Chengdu
Simo Goldcool Mochi Eyedentity eFusionOthers Total

RMB
Balance as of
December 31,
2010

86,479 26,130 3,934 53,532 25,077 163,617 123,425 — 4,713 486,907

Acquisitions in
2011 — — — — — — — — 5,209 5,209

Balance as of
December 31,
2011

86,479 26,130 3,934 53,532 25,077 163,617 123,425 — 9,922 492,116

Acquisitions in
2012 — — — — — — — 718 — 718

Divestitures in
2012 — — — — — (163,617) — — — (163,617)

Balance as of
December 31,
2012

86,479 26,130 3,934 53,532 25,077 — 123,425 718 9,922 329,217

Goodwill arising from business combinations completed in 2011 and 2012 has been allocated to the respective
reporting units of the Group. Goodwill is not amortized but is reviewed annually for impairment. The Group
performed goodwill impairment tests in October of 2010, 2011 and 2012 using the two-step quantitative approach,
and determined that the Group’s goodwill was not impaired for any reporting units.

14. SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS

Short-term borrowings as of December 31, 2011 and 2012 are as follows:
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December 31, 2011 December 31, 2012
RMB RMB

Borrowing from China Merchant Bank 829,829 —
Borrowing from Shanghai Pudong Development Bank 8,689 —
Borrowing from Pingan Bank 19,000 —
Borrowing from China Minsheng Bank — 980,538
Borrowing from Industrial and Commercial Bank of China — 251,420
Borrowing from Citi Bank — 250,337
Borrowing from others 1,331 92
Total short-term borrowings 858,849 1,482,387

In February 2012, the Group obtained a borrowing of US$156.0 million (equivalent to RMB980.5 million), which is
repayable in February 2013, from China Minsheng Bank. The borrowing carried an interest rate of 6.0% per annum
and was collateralized by a pledge of short term investments of RMB983.8 million with interest rate ranging from
5.46% to 6.94% per annum. The Group repaid the loan in February 2013.

In June 2012, the Group obtained a borrowing of US$40.0 million (equivalent to RMB251.4 million), which is
repayable no later than August 2013, from Industrial and Commercial Bank of China. The borrowing carried an
interest rate of 2.90% per annum and was collateralized by a pledge of short term investments of RMB260.0 million
with an interest rate of 5% per annum.

In October 2012, the Group obtained a borrowing of KRW42,800.0 million (equivalent to RMB250.3 million), which
is repayable in June 2013, from Citi Bank. The borrowing carried an interest rate of 3.7% per annum and was
collateralized by a pledge of short term investments of KRW47,500 million (equivalent to RMB277.8 million) with
interest rates ranging from 3.37% to 4.33% per annum.
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The movement of short-term borrowings during the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2012 are as follows:

For the Years Ended December 31,
2011 2012
RMB RMB

Balance at beginning of year — 858,849
Add: Current year additions 876,850 2,848,106
Current year additions from acquisition 2,421 —
Less: Current year repayment (1,090 ) (2,235,891 )
Foreign currency translation (19,332 ) 11,323
Balance at end of year 858,849 1,482,387

Weighted average borrowings were RMB424.4 million and RMB2,388.5 million for 2011 and 2012, respectively.

15. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

December 31, 2011 December 31, 2012
RMB RMB

Salary and welfare payable 20,377 27,560
Accrued bonus 106,371 70,930
Unpaid rental for server software 5,810 2,938
Accrued professional service fee 12,772 15,162
Acquisition related obligation (Note 4) 58,771 143,374
Unpaid advertisement and promotion fee 142,911 158,667
Unpaid rental fee 153 13,562
Payables to employees relating to exercise of options (Note 2(7)) 10,343 3
Interest payable 10,579 16,913
Derivative liability-foreign currency forward contracts(Note 22) — 9,312
Other payables 47,890 50,112
Total 415,977 508,533
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16. ORDINARY SHARES

Upon incorporation of Shanda Games (HK) in December 2007, Shanda subscribed for 55,000,000 shares at a par
value of US$1.00 per ordinary share in Shanda Games (HK). In turn, Shanda paid US$45 million, equivalent to
RMB328.9 million out of the total payable of US$55 million to Shanda Games (HK). Following a corporate
reorganization on July 1, 2008, Shanda transferred all of its 55,000,000 ordinary shares in Shanda Games (HK) to the
Company in exchange for the issuance of 54,999,999 ordinary shares of the Company. Together with the 1 ordinary
share owned by Shanda upon the incorporation of the Company, Shanda owned 55,000,000 ordinary shares in the
Company immediately after the share swap. Due to the share swap, the Company assumed the payable of US$10
million to Shanda Games (HK), which was settled in cash in 2009. On September 18, 2008, the Company declared a
share dividend and distributed 495,000,000 ordinary shares to Shanda. Immediately after the share dividend, Shanda
owned 550,000,000 ordinary shares of Shanda Games at a par value of US$0.01 per ordinary share.

The transactions described above were accounted for as a legal reorganization under common control. Therefore the
Company is assumed to have been in existence since January 1, 2007, and the impact of the share transactions is
accounted for retroactively. In connection with Shanda’s investments that were transferred from Shanda to the Group,
such as investments in Actoz and certain affiliated companies, as part of the corporate reorganization, they were
recorded as capital contributions from Shanda.

On September 30, 2009, the Company completed an IPO on the NASDAQ Global Select Market. In the offering,
83,500,000 American Depositary Shares (“ADSs”), representing 167,000,000 Class A ordinary shares, were sold to the
public at a price of US$12.50 per ADS. Of these, 13,043,500 ADSs, representing 26,087,000 Class A ordinary shares,
were sold by the Company; and 70,456,500 ADSs, representing 140,913,000 Class A ordinary shares, were sold by a
direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Shanda. The net proceeds to the Company from the IPO, after deducting
commissions and offering expenses, were approximately US$152.5 million.
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As of December 31, 2012, the Company had an aggregate of 540,947,314 ordinary shares issued and outstanding.
These outstanding shares consist of (1)131,860,314 Class A ordinary shares held by public shareholders and (2)
409,087,000 Class B ordinary shares indirectly held by Shanda. The terms of the Class A ordinary shares and Class B
ordinary shares are similar, except that (i) each Class A ordinary share and Class B ordinary share are entitled to 1
vote and 10 votes respectively on matters subject to shareholders’ vote, and (ii) each Class B ordinary share is
convertible into one Class A ordinary share at any time by the holder thereof, but Class A ordinary shares are not
convertible into Class B ordinary shares under any circumstances.

17. REPURCHASE OF SHARES

On March 1, 2010, the Company's Board of Directors approved a share repurchase program under which the
Company was authorized to repurchase up to US$150 million worth of its outstanding ADSs during the next 24
months depending on market conditions, share price and other factors, subject to the relevant rules under United States
securities regulations. In June 2012, the Company's Board of Directors approved a new share repurchase program
under which the Company is authorized to repurchase up to $100 million worth of its outstanding ADSs during the
next 12 months. The share repurchases may be made on the open market, in block trades or otherwise, and are to be
funded by the Company’s available working capital.

In 2010, the Company repurchased a total of 12,123,982 ordinary shares for aggregate consideration of US$37.8
million (approximately RMB255.9 million). After the repurchase, those shares were retired. The excess of US$37.6
million (approximately RMB255.1 million) of purchase price over par value, was allocated between additional paid-in
capital and retained earnings of US$3.1 million and US$34.5 million, respectively (approximately RMB21.1 million
and RMB234.0 million, respectively), based on the pro rata portion of additional paid-in capital on the ordinary
shares.

In 2011, the Company repurchased a total of 12,221,320 ordinary shares for aggregate consideration of US$29.2
million (approximately RMB186.3 million). After the repurchase, those shares were retired. The excess of US$29.1
million (approximately RMB185.5 million) of purchase price over par value was allocated between additional paid-in
capital and retained earnings of US$3.5 million and US$25.6 million, respectively (approximately RMB22.0 million
and RMB163.5 million, respectively), based on the pro rata portion of additional paid-in capital on the ordinary
shares.
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In 2012, the Company repurchased a total of 21,946,754 shares for aggregate consideration of US$40.4 million
(approximately RMB255.4 million). After the repurchase, those shares were retired. The excess of US$40.1 million
(approximately RMB254.0 million) of purchase price over par value was allocated between additional paid-in capital
and retained earnings of US$6.2 million and US$33.9 million, respectively (approximately RMB39.5 million and
RMB214.5 million, respectively), based on the pro rata portion of additional paid-in capital on the ordinary shares.

As of December 31, 2012, the Company had repurchased in the aggregate 46,292,056 shares for aggregate
consideration of US$107.4 million (approximately RMB697.6 million). The excess of US$106.8 million
(approximately RMB694.6 million) of purchase price over par value, was allocated between additional paid-in capital
and retained earnings of US$12.8 million and US$94.0 million, respectively (approximately RMB82.6 million and
RMB612.0 million, respectively), based on the pro rata portion of additional paid-in capital on the ordinary shares.
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18. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Non controlling interests as of December 31, 2011 and 2012 are as follows:

December 31,
2011

December 31,
2012

RMB RMB
Non-controlling interests in Actoz 247,775 30,720
Non-controlling interests in other subsidiaries 9,383 22,590

257,158 53,310

The movements of non-controlling interests during the years ended December 31, 2010, 2011 and 2012 are as follows:

For the Years Ended December 31,
2010 2011 2012
RMB RMB RMB

Balance at beginning of year 205,886 238,864 257,158
Add:
Non-controlling interests arising from business combination 6,451 4,062 5,533
Capital contribution to subsidiaries by non-controlling interests* — — 7,116
Net income attributable to non-controlling interests 15,846 21,115 23,165
Share-based compensation of subsidiaries 5,020 8,326 8,886
Exercise of share options of a subsidiary 3,848 5,349 4,920
Less:
Currency translation adjustments of subsidiaries 1,813 (19,586 ) 9,444
Contribution by noncontrolling shareholders related to transfer of a portion of
subsidiary Eyedentity’s equity from Shanda Games International to Actoz (see
Note 4(3))

— — (260,077 )

Disposal of a subsidiary — — (2,835 )
Change of equity in an affiliated company of a subsidiary — (972 ) —
Balance at the end of year 238,864 257,158 53,310
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*Capital contribution to subsidiaries by non-controlling interests mainly represented capital contributions from
non-controlling interests to subsidiaries which are majority-owned. The group contributed a total amount of RMB15.2
million to such subsidiaries for its controlling interests.

19. SHARE OPTION PLAN

Certain of the Group’s employees historically were granted awards under share-based incentive plans established by
the Group’s parent, Shanda, which formerly was a publicly traded NASDAQ issuer and delisted, changing its status to
a private company in February 2012. All share based payment awards historically issued by Shanda at that time were
extinguished. Share-based compensation expenses related to Shanda’s now-defunct incentive plans were recognized in
the Group’s consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income in the amounts of RMB7.8 million,
RMB1.2 million and nil for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2011 and 2012, respectively.

For awards granted to the Company’s employees under the share-based incentive plans established by the Company,
share-based compensation expenses were recognized in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive income in the amounts of RMB93.1 million, RMB81.4 million and RMB33.6 million for the years
ended December31, 2010, 2011 and 2012 respectively.
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Share-based compensation of the Company

2008 Equity Compensation Plan

In November 2008, the Company authorized an equity compensation plan (the “2008 Equity Compensation Plan”) that
provides for the issuance of options to purchase up to 44,000,000 ordinary shares. Under the Company’s 2008 Equity
Compensation Plan, the directors may, at their discretion, grant any officers (including directors) and employees of the
Company and/or its subsidiaries, and individual consultants or advisors (i) options to subscribe for ordinary shares, (ii)
share appreciation rights to receive payment, in cash and/or the Company’s ordinary shares, equal to the excess of the
fair market value of the Company’s ordinary shares, or (iii) other types of compensation based on the performance of
the Company’s ordinary shares. In November 2010, the Company increased the number of ordinary shares reserved
under the 2008 Equity Compensation Plan to 54,750,000 ordinary shares.

From November 14, 2008 through September 7, 2009, the Company granted options to employees to purchase
24,752,500 ordinary shares at an exercise price of US$3.20 per share and 936,000 ordinary shares at an exercise price
of US$3.98 per share under the Company’s 2008 Equity Compensation Plan, respectively. After the Company’s IPO,
from October 16, 2009 through December 1, 2009, the Company granted options to employees to purchase 38,000
Class A ordinary shares at an exercise price of US$5.38 and 20,000 Class A ordinary shares at an exercise price of
US$5.29 under the Company’s 2008 Equity Compensation Plan, respectively, equivalent to the average market value
in the previous fifteen trading days of the grant dates. The options can be exercised within 10 years from the
respective grant dates. Pursuant to the 2008 Equity Compensation Plan, for each quarter during the four years
beginning on the Performance Period Start Date through the four-year Performance Period, 1/16th of the options have
the opportunity to be earned, including 1/3 of which can be earned subject to the participant’s continued employment
with the Group, and up to 2/3 of which can be earned contingent on the achievement of different performance targets.

For the options granted prior to the consummation of the Company’s IPO, the vesting conditions are: 1) On each of the
first four anniversaries of the Performance Period Start Date, twenty percent (20%) of the earned options during the
year preceding such anniversary date shall vest and become exercisable; and 2) on each of the first four anniversaries
of the consummation of the IPO, eighty percent (80%) of the earned options during the year preceding the
corresponding first four anniversaries of the Performance Period Start Date shall vest and become exercisable
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provided, in each case, that the employees remain employed by the Company on such vesting date.

The Company did not recognize share-based compensation expenses for the earned options (80%) granted prior to the
IPO and which vested upon the consummation of the IPO, as the Company was not able to determine that it was
probable that this performance condition would be satisfied until such event occurred As a result of the consummation
of the IPO, the share-based compensation expenses for this portion of the earned options were recognized in the
Company’s consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income.

In accordance with ASC 718, after IPO, the Company recognized share-based compensation expenses for the options
granted prior to IPO, net of a forfeiture rate, using the straight-line method for the 1/3 of the 20% of the options
earned subject to the employees’ continued employment with the Group, and using the graded-vesting method for of
the rest of the options earned contingent on the achievement of different performance targets when the Company
concluded that it is probable that the performance targets would be achieved (or were achieved).

There was one significant modification in the first quarter of 2010 relating to the previously granted
performance-based options. These options were not considered probable to be earned and vested under the original
performance target, but were probable under the revised performance target. The compensation costs for the original
awards were nil as none of the options were expected to vest. The incremental fair value was equal to the full fair
value of the modified award, which represents the total cumulative compensation cost to be recognized for the award.
On the modification date, the compensation costs previously recognized for the unvested award were reversed and fair
value of the modified award was recognized as compensation cost over the remaining vesting period of the modified
award.
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In January 2010, the Company replaced the outstanding employee options of a foreign subsidiary with options of the
Company. The replacement awards allow employees to purchase 962,963 Class A ordinary shares within 10 years
from the original grant date and have the same vesting terms as under the original award. The replacement awards’
share option activities are included in the 2008 Equity Compensation Plan movements. The incremental compensation
cost resulting from the replacement was immaterial.

From March 9, 2010 through December 15, 2010, the Company granted options under the 2008 Equity Compensation
Plan to purchase 6,805,200 Class A ordinary shares of the Company at an exercise price equivalent to the average
market value in the previous fifteen days. From January 1, 2011 through December 1, 2011, the Company granted
options under the 2008 Equity Compensation Plan to purchase 5,380,300 Class A ordinary shares of the Company at
an exercise price equivalent to the average market value in the previous fifteen days. From January 1, 2012 through
December 1, 2012, the Company granted options under the 2008 Equity Compensation Plan to purchase 7,732,000
Class A ordinary shares of the Company at an exercise price equivalent to the average market value in the previous
fifteen days. Pursuant to the 2008 Equity Compensation Plan, for each quarter during the four years beginning on the
Performance Period Start Date through the four-year Performance Period, 1/16th of the options have the opportunity
to be earned, including 1/3 of which can be earned subject to the participant's continued employment with the Group,
and up to 2/3 of which can be earned contingent on the achievement of different performance targets. The options
have 10 year contractual terms from the grant dates and vest over four year periods. On each of the first four
anniversaries of the Performance Period Start Date, one hundred percent (100%) of the options earned during the year
preceding such anniversary date shall vest and become exercisable provided that the employees remain employed by
the Group on such vesting date.

From January 1, 2011 through April 15, 2011, the Company granted options under the 2008 Equity Compensation
Plan to purchase 216,400 Class A ordinary shares of the Company with no performance conditions at an exercise price
equivalent to the average market value in the previous fifteen days. The options have 10 year contractual terms from
the grant dates and vest over four year periods. On the first anniversary of the grant date, 25% of the options vest, and
over the three-year remaining vesting period, 1/36th of the options vest monthly provided that the employees remain
employed by the Group on such vesting dates.

In 2011, the Company granted options under the 2008 Equity Compensation Plan to purchase 1,916,739 Class A
ordinary shares of the Company at an exercise price equivalent to the average market value in the previous fifteen
days. The options have a 10 year contractual term from the grant date and vested immediately.
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On September 14, 2012, the board of directors approved an option modification to reduce the exercise price of certain
outstanding options (mainly granted to key members of management and certain staff) that were granted by the
Company under the 2008 Equity Compensation Plan to a calculated market value of US$1.835 per ordinary share. The
calculated value was based on the average closing price of the Company's ADSs during the 15 consecutive trading
days prior to September 14, 2012 divided by two. Other terms of the option grants remain unchanged. Total modified
options amount to 12.8 million, or 9.9 million unvested options and 2.9 million vested options. All eligible option
grantees affected by such changes had entered into amendments to their original share option agreements with the
Company. A modification charge for the incremental compensation cost of RMB5.7 million was recorded in the third
quarter of 2012 for fully vested options. The Company expects to record approximately RMB11.9 million of
incremental cost for unvested options over their respective remaining vesting periods of one year to four years.
Overall, this modification was undertaken in light of the decrease in the Company’s share price after the large 2011
special dividend.

Share-based compensation expenses related to the option awards granted by the Company under the 2008 Equity
Compensation Plan amounted to approximately RMB44.6 million, RMB35.2 million and RMB16.9 million for the
years ended December 31, 2010, 2011 and 2012.
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The Company’s share option activities as of December 31, 2010, 2011 and 2012 and changes during the years then
ended are presented below:

Options
Outstanding

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Life

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value

US$ US$ (in
thousands)

Outstanding at December 31, 2009 25,555,200 3.2 8.94 47,589
Granted 7,768,163 3.0
Exercised (1,403,548 ) 2.6
Forfeited (8,708,587 ) 3.3
Expired — —
Outstanding at December 31, 2010 23,211,228 3.2 8.34 2,225
Vested and expected to vest at December 31, 2010 21,863,951 3.2 8.33 2,199
Vested and exercisable at December 31, 2010 5,182,199 3.2 7.96 176
Granted 7,513,439 3.0
Exercised (650,100 ) 2.3
Forfeited (7,714,478 ) 3.1
Expired — —
Outstanding at December 31, 2011 22,360,088 3.2 7.90 300
Vested and expected to vest at December 31, 2011 21,891,028 3.2 7.88 273
Vested and exercisable at December 31, 2011 7,568,229 3.1 7.13 31
Granted 7,732,000 1.9
Exercised (149,884 ) 0.6
Forfeited (7,840,095 ) 2.6 *
Expired — —
Outstanding at December 31, 2012 22,102,109 2.2 * 7.84 46
Vested and expected to vest at December 31, 2012 18,678,050 2.3 * 7.24 46
Vested and exercisable at December 31, 2012 8,989,861 2.8 * 6.46 8

* Includes the impact of stock option exercise price modification in September 2012 previously discussed.
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The aggregate intrinsic values are calculated as the differences between the market values of US$3.22, US$1.96 and
US$1.52 as of December 31, 2010, 2011 and 2012 and the exercise prices of the shares. The total intrinsic value of
options exercised during the year ended December 31, 2012 was US$0.1 million.

The weighted average grant-date fair values of options granted during the years ended December 31, 2010, 2011 and
2012 were US$1.92, US$1.15 and US$1.01, respectively. The weighted average grant-date fair values of options
vested during 2010, 2011 and 2012 were RMB81.3 million, RMB27.8 million and RMB46.2 million, respectively.

As of December 31, 2012, there was RMB37.9 million of unrecognized compensation cost, adjusted for the estimated
forfeitures, related to unvested options granted to the Group’s employees. This cost is expected to be recognized over a
weighted average period of 2.6 years. Total compensation cost may be adjusted for future changes in estimated
forfeitures and the probability of the achievement of performance conditions. In 2012, total cash received from the
exercise of stock options amounted to RMB0.7 million.
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The fair value of each option granted under the Company’s 2008 Equity Compensation Plan after the IPO was
estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes model with the assumptions in the following table:

For the year ended December 31
2010 2011 2012

Exercise Price US$0.23~US$3.40 US$2.47~US$3.62 US$1.84~US$2.05
Fair value of ordinary shares US$2.50~US$5.21 US$1.99~US$3.75 US$1.92~US$2.23
Risk-free interest rate(1) 1.00%~2.50% 0.88%~2.0% 0.63%~1.0%
Expected life (in years)(2) 5 2.25~5 5
Expected dividend yield(3) 0% 0% 0%
Expected volatility(4) 50% 50% 50~60%
Fair value per option at grant date (in RMB) 7.31~33.52 2.22~11.88 6.3~6.52

(1)The risk-free interest rate for periods within the contractual life of the share option is based on the U.S. Treasuryyield curve in effect at the time of grant for a term consistent with the expected term of the awards.

(2)The expected term of stock options granted is developed giving consideration to vesting period, contractual termand historical exercise pattern of options granted by the Company.

(3) The Company has no expectation of paying regular dividends on its ordinary shares.

(4)Expected volatility is estimated based on the historical volatility of comparable companies’ stocks and of theCompany’s ordinary shares for a period equivalent to the expected term preceding the grant date.

On December 22, 2008, the Company also granted 407,770 restricted shares under the Company’s 2008 Equity
Compensation Plan. The restricted shares vest in equal installments over four calendar years on December 31 of each
such calendar year, commencing on December 31, 2009, subject to the employee’s continued employment with the
Group.
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From July 14, 2009 through December 1, 2009, the Company granted 251,920 restricted shares and 6,068,500
restricted shares to the Group’s and Shanda’s employees, respectively, under the Company’s 2008 Equity Compensation
Plan. From January 1, 2010 through December 1, 2010, the Company granted 4,488,279 and 925,000 restricted shares
to the Group's and Shanda's employees, respectively, under the Company's 2008 Equity Compensation Plan. From
January 1, 2011 through December 1, 2011, the Company granted 1,661,989 and 1,788,624 restricted shares to the
Group's and Shanda's employees, respectively, under the Company's 2008 Equity Compensation Plan. From January
1, 2012 through December 1, 2012, the Company granted 337,462 and 1,142,500 restricted shares to the Group's and
Shanda's employees, respectively, under the Company's 2008 Equity Compensation Plan.These awards will vest in
equal installments over two to four years, commencing on the grant date, subject to the employee’s continued
employment with the Group or Shanda, as the case may be.

Share-based compensation expense related to the restricted share awards granted by the Company under the 2008
Equity Compensation Plan amounted to RMB48,518, RMB46,161 and RMB16,675 for the years ended December 31,
2010, 2011 and 2012. The restricted shares granted to Shanda’s employees were measured at fair value at the grant
dates and amounts of RMB62,453, RMB65,044 and RMB43,129 were recognized as dividends distributed to Shanda
in 2010, 2011 and 2012, respectively.

A summary of unvested restricted share activity as of December 31, 2010, 2011 and 2012 is presented below:

Unvested Restricted Shares Number of Shares Weighted Average
Grant-date Fair Value
US$

Unvested at December 31, 2009 6,725,190 6.0
Granted 5,413,279 4.1
Vested (2,022,688 ) 5.5
Forfeited (489,549 ) 5.5
Unvested at December 31, 2010 9,626,232 5.2
Expected to vest at December 31, 2010 8,473,034 5.1
Granted 3,450,613 3.0
Vested (4,492,918 ) 5.2
Forfeited (1,082,538 ) 5.6
Unvested at December 31, 2011 7,501,389 4.5
Expected to vest at December 31, 2011 7,120,357 4.5
Granted 1,479,962 2.0
Vested (2,434,628 ) 4.7
Forfeited (1,635,122 ) 4.9
Unvested at December 31, 2012 4,911,601 3.5
Expected to vest at December 31, 2012 4,498,720 3.3
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The total intrinsic value of restricted shares vested during the years ended December 31, 2010, 2011 and 2012 was
RMB42.9 million, RMB55.3 million and RMB23.1 million, respectively.

As of December 31, 2012, there was RMB74.3 million of unrecognized compensation cost (including the
unrecognized compensation cost of the restricted shares granted to the employees of Shanda amounting to RMB52.1
million), adjusted for estimated forfeitures, related to unvested restricted shares granted to the Group’s employees and
Shanda employees. This cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 2.02 years. Total
compensation cost may be adjusted for future changes in estimated forfeitures.

Share-based compensation of Actoz

Since 2005, Actoz has granted stock options to its employees as an incentive program.

A total of 127,420 shares were granted to Actoz’s employees in July 2006; 140,000 shares were granted in March
2007; 470,730 shares were granted in September 2007; 94,040 shares were granted in March 2008; 10,000 shares
were granted in October 2008; 102,666 shares were granted in March 2010, and 40,000 shares were granted in March,
2012.

The stock options may be exercised from the date that is two years from the grant date for a period of five years under
relevant law. The grantees who were granted options before March 2007 may exercise 2/3 of granted stock options
two years after the grant date and 1/3 of granted stock options may be exercised three years after the grant date.
Grantees who were granted options in September 2007 and in 2008, 2010 and 2012 may exercise 1/2 of granted stock
options two years after grant date, 1/4 of granted stock options may be exercised three years after grant date, and 1/4
of granted stock options may be exercised four years after grant date.
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Under the relevant law, the option exercise price is decided based on the price calculated by taking the arithmetic
average of the weighted average of the periods of past two months, one month and one week each prior to the day
immediately preceding the date of the shareholders meeting.

Actoz may decide upon one or more methods for exercise of the options pursuant to the resolution of the board of
directors: 1) delivery of new shares of Actoz; 2) delivery of Actoz’s treasury stock; or 3) payment by Actoz to the
grantee of the difference between the market price at the time of exercise and the exercise price, in cash or treasury
stock.

The assumptions used to value stock-based compensation awards for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2012 are
presented as follows. Further information regarding the assumptions has not been included as the grant-date fair value
of the options issued was not material.

For the years ended December 31
2010 2012

Risk-free interest rate 4.56% 3.71%
Expected life (in years) 4.5-4.9 years 4.9 years
Expected dividend yield 0% 0%
Expected volatility 65%-67% 61%
Fair value per option at grant date ( in KRW) 7,504~7,668 10,379
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Activities of share options

Actoz’s share option activities as of December 31, 2010, 2011 and 2012 and changes during the years then ended are
presented below:

Options
Outstanding

Weighted
Average
Exercise Price

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual Life

Aggregate
Intrinsic Value

KRW KRW
December 31, 2009 412,490 9,398 4.66 3,156,394
Granted 102,666 14,250 — —
Exercised (75,551 ) 9,378 — —
Forfeited (56,443 ) 9,532 — —
December 31, 2010 383,162 10,682 4.38 301,206
Vested and expected to vest as of December 31,
2010 368,502 10,542 4.30 301,094

Vested and exercisable as of December 31, 2010 214,000 9,346 3.63 236,267
Granted — — — —
Exercised (121,517 ) 9,416 — —
Forfeited (51,685 ) 13,468 — —
December 31, 2011 209,960 10,729 3.52 551,208
Vested and expected to vest as of December 31,
2011 209,960 10,729 3.52 551,208

Vested and exercisable as of December 31, 2011 148,222 9,347 2.83 541,498
Granted 40,000 18,040 — —
Exercised (168,089 ) 10,372 — 3,896,501
Forfeited (3,500 ) 14,250 — —
December 31, 2012 78,371 15,070 4.69 1,734,338
Vested and expected to vest as of December 31,
2012 78,371 15,070 4.69 1,734,338

Vested and exercisable as of December 31, 2012 26,496 15,070 2.55 695,407
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The aggregate intrinsic values were calculated as the differences between the market values of KRW10,450,
KRW13,000 and KRW37,200 as of December 31, 2010, 2011 and 2012, respectively, and the exercise prices of the
shares. The total intrinsic value of options exercised during the year ended December 31, 2012 was KRW3,896.5
million.

The weighted average fair value of options granted during fiscal year 2010 was KRW7,593. During 2011, Actoz did
not grant any options. The weighted average estimated fair value of options granted during fiscal year 2012 was
KRW10,379. The total fair value of options vested during the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2012 was
KRW324.5 million and KRW174.2 million, respectively.

Share-based compensation expenses of approximately RMB5.0 million, RMB3.4 million and RMB1.9 million were
recognized in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income for the years ended December 31,
2010, 2011 and 2012.

As of December 31, 2012 there was KRW447.0 million(RMB2.6 million) of unrecognized compensation cost,
adjusted for estimated forfeitures, related to unvested options granted to Actoz’s employees. This cost is expected to be
recognized over a weighted average period of 5.79 years. Total compensation cost may be adjusted for future changes
in estimated forfeitures. For the year ended December 31, 2012, total cash received by Actoz from the exercise of
stock options amounted to KRW1,743.4 million (equivalent to approximately RMB9.8 million).
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Share-based compensation of Eyedentity

In February 2012, pursuant to a resolution of the board of directors, the Group’s Korean subsidiary Eyedentity
authorized an equity compensation plan to grant stock options to its employees as an incentive program. A total of
95,000 shares were granted to Eyedentity’s employees in February 2012. The options can be exercised within 5 years
from the award date. These awards vest over a three year period, with 1/3 of the options to vest on each of the first,
second, and third anniversaries of the award date under relevant Korean law.

The fair value of each option granted under Eyedentity’s equity compensation plan was estimated on the date of grant
using the Black-Scholes model with the assumptions noted in the following table. Further information regarding the
assumptions has not been included as the grant-date fair value of the options issued in 2012 was not material.

Year ended December 31
2012

Risk-free interest rate 3.43 %
Expected life (in years) 4 years
Expected dividend yield 0 %
Expected volatility 55.95 %
Fair value per option at grant date ( in KRW) 55,403

Activities of share options

Eyedentity’s share option activities as of December 31, 2012 and changes during the year follow:

Options
Outstanding

Weighted
Average
Exercise Price

Weighted Average
Remaining
Contractual Life

Aggregate
Intrinsic Value

Edgar Filing: DXP ENTERPRISES INC - Form 5

Explanation of Responses: 51



KRW KRW
Granted 95,000 100,000 — —
Exercised — — — —
Forfeited (13,500 ) 100,000 — —
December 31, 2012 81,500 100,000 4.09 —
Vested and expected to vest as of December 31,
2012 81,500 100,000 4.09 —

Vested and exercisable as of December 31, 2012 — — — —

There is no intrinsic value as of December 31, 2012. The weighted average grant date estimated fair value of options
granted during 2012 was KRW55,403. Share-based compensation expense of approximately RMB7.0 million was
recognized in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income for 2012.

As of December 31, 2012 there was KRW2,832 million (RMB16.6 million) of unrecognized compensation cost,
adjusted for estimated forfeitures, related to unvested stock-based awards granted to Eyedentity’s employees. This cost
is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 2.1 years. Total compensation cost may be adjusted for
future changes in estimated forfeitures.

20. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

The full-time employees of the PRC subsidiaries and the VIEs that are incorporated in the PRC are entitled to staff
welfare benefits, including medical care, welfare subsidies, unemployment insurance and pension benefits. The PRC
subsidiaries and the VIEs are required to accrue for these benefits based on certain percentages of the employees’
salaries in accordance with the relevant regulations and to make contributions to the state-sponsored pension and
medical plans out of the amounts accrued for medical and pension benefits. The total amounts charged to the
statements of operations and comprehensive income for such employee benefits amounted to approximately
RMB42,533, RMB76,275 and RMB91,271 for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2011 and 2012, respectively. The
PRC government is responsible for the medical benefits and ultimate pension liability to these employees.
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21. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Transactions pertaining to online gaming business and interest on lendings and borrowings

During the years ended December 31, 2010, 2011 and 2012, significant related party transactions were as follows:

For the years ended December 31,
2010 2011 2012
RMB RMB RMB

Activity related to online gaming business:
Platform service fees and sales agent fees paid to companies under common
control by Shanda (1,020,534) (1,250,914) (1,118,293)

Promotion service fee paid to companies under common control by Shanda (10,551 ) (7,260 ) (3,914 )
Online game licensing fees received from companies under common control
by Shanda 6,672 3,199 1,814

Corporate general administrative expenses (2012: reversal) allocated from
Shanda (8,183 ) (7,008 ) 3,467

Rental fee paid to companies under common control by Shanda (13,796 ) (17,647 ) (17,624 )
Consulting service fee paid to companies under common control by Shanda (2,260 ) — (9,434 )
Interest on loans to or from Shanda or companies under its common control:
Interest expense for loans from Shanda and companies under common
control by Shanda (11,059 ) (12,150 ) (26,787 )

Interest income from loans to Shanda and companies under common control
by Shanda 1,997 32,490 83,711
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Amounts due from and due to related parties

As of December 31, 2011 and 2012, outstanding balances due from and due to related parties were as follows:

December 31, 2011 December 31, 2012
RMB RMB

Amounts due from related parties:
Accounts receivable from companies under common control by Shanda 405,953 325,773
Other receivables from Shanda 1,667 1,035,432
Other receivables from companies under common control by Shanda 929,728 1,044,971

Amounts due to related parties:
Accounts payable to companies under common control by Shanda 77,349 71,737
Other payables to companies under common control by Shanda 125,910 983,913

Except for loan transactions (included in “other receivables” and “other payables” above), the accounts receivable from
and accounts payable to companies under common control by Shanda, mainly arising from the related party activity
pertaining to the online gaming business described in the foregoing section of this note, are interest free, unsecured
and can be settled on demand.

The Group from time to time extends interest-bearing loans to, or borrows interest-bearing funds from Shanda or
companies under its common control. Such transactions have in part been motivated by the Group’s, Shanda’s, or
Shanda’s affiliates’ needs to borrow or lend U.S. dollar denominated or RMB denominated funds under various
circumstances. Before entering into these transactions, these arrangements were reviewed and assessed to ensure their
fairness and that they would not pose incremental credit or interest risk to us.
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Loans to related parties. The Group has extended various RMB-denominated loans to companies under the common
control of Shanda as part of the efforts to manage the Group’s surplus cash resources.

·

In October and November 2010, the Group originated unsecured RMB-denominated loans with an aggregate
principal amount of RMB503.0 million (US$80.7 million) to a company under common control of Shanda. These
loans were originally due in September 2011 and their terms have been extended successively to June 2013. The
interest rates on these loans for both the initial and the renewed terms were 5.68% per year, which were higher than
the prevailing one-year deposit rates when the loans were originated and renewed, respectively.

·

In February 2011, the Group originated an unsecured RMB-denominated entrusted loan of RMB20.0 (US$3.2
million) million to a company under common control of Shanda. This loan was originally due in August 2011 and its
term has been extended successively to February 2013. The interest rate on this loan for both the initial and the
renewed terms was 6.71% per year, which was higher than the prevailing one-year deposit rates when the loan was
originated and renewed, respectively.

·

In August 2011, the Group originated unsecured RMB-denominated entrusted loans with an aggregate principal
amount of RMB300.0 million (US$48.2 million) to a company under common control of Shanda. These loans were
originally due in August 2012 and their terms have been extended to August 2013. The interest rates on these loans
for the initial and the renewed terms were 5.93% and 5.40% per year, respectively, which were higher than the
prevailing one-year deposit rates when the loans were originated and renewed, respectively.

·

In February 2012, the Group originated an unsecured RMB-denominated entrusted loan of RMB115.0 million
(US$18.5 million) to a company under common control of Shanda. This loan was originally due in February 2013
and its term has been extended to February 2014. The interest rates on this loan for the initial and the renewed terms
were 5.93% and 5.43% per year, respectively, which were higher than the prevailing one-year deposit rates when the
loan was originated and renewed, respectively.

Borrowing and lendings related to Shanda’s privatization. In connection with Shanda’s privatization in February 2012,
the Group engaged in a series of closely linked third-party and related-party borrowing and lending transactions.
These transactions were motivated primarily by Shanda’s needs for funds in U.S. dollars, its excess RMB-denominated
cash resources, and the Group’s access to both RMB-denominated and U.S. dollar-denominated cash resources and
funding sources. The key actions taken were as follows:

·

In February 2012, the Group borrowed, in the form of unsecured entrusted RMB-denominated loans, an aggregate
principal amount of RMB926.0 million (US$148.6 million) from a company under the common control of Shanda.
These RMB-denominated loans carry an interest rate of 3% per year. Concurrently, the Group provided U.S.
dollar-denominated loans to Shanda with an aggregate amount of US$160.0 million (RMB1,005.7 million). The
interest rate on these U.S. dollar-denominated loans is 3% per year. All of these borrowings were originally due in
February 2013 and the terms were later extended to February 2014.

·In order to bridge the loans described above and obtain the U.S. dollars necessary to lend to Shanda, the Group
borrowed US$156.0 million (equivalent to RMB980.5 million) from China Minsheng Bank at an interest rate of 6%
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per year, by pledging certain RMB-denominated short term investments with China Minsheng Bank in an aggregate
amount of RMB983.8 million, which earned interest at rates ranging from 5.46% to 6.94% per year, as collateral.
Such short term investments were financed primarily with the proceeds from the RMB926.0 million entrusted loans
described above. The interest rates on the China Minsheng Bank loan and the collateral were structured with an aim
to cancel out the related interest income and expenses. This borrowing was repaid in February 2013 via conversion of
RMB funds for U.S. dollars and the pledge was released.

With respect to the above transactions relating to Shanda’s privatization, the interest income was RMB79.9 million
(US$12.8 million) and interest expense was RMB78.7 million (US$12.6 million), resulting in net interest income of
RMB1.2 million (US$0.2 million) for the year ended December 31, 2012.

The Group generated net income for loans to and from Shanda and companies under its common control, reflecting
both the loans to related parties and the borrowings and lendings related to Shanda’s privatization described above.
With respect to these loans and transactions, the interest income was RMB83.7 million (US$13.4 million) and the
interest expense was RMB26.8 million (US$4.3 million), resulting in net interest income of RMB56.9 million
(US$9.1 million), for the year ended December 31, 2012.
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22. DERIVATIVE

In June 2009, Shengqu entered into an arrangement with a bank in China whereby Shengqu obtained a loan of
US$102.5 million which was repaid in June 2010. The loan bore interest at 1.35% per annum and was collateralized
with a cash deposit of RMB702 million from Shengqu. The interest earned from the RMB cash deposit is 2.25% per
annum. In connection with the loan, Shengqu also entered into a foreign currency forward contract with the same bank
by fixing the exchange rate of USD to RMB at 6.8445 at the time when it repays the U.S. dollar loan. The Group
recorded the foreign currency forward contract as a derivative and marked-to-market at each balance sheet date. The
loan is remeasured at each period end to Shengqu’s functional currency and is netted off against its RMB cash deposit
due to the existence of the legal set off right. On June 30, 2010, the forward contract was executed by releasing of
RMB cash deposit to settle the principal and interest on the loan.

In the second quarter of 2012, the Group entered into several foreign currency forward contracts with certain domestic
banks to manage foreign exchange rate exposure by fixing the exchange rates of USD to RMB at the contract maturity
dates. None of the forward contracts were designated in hedging relationships; therefore, the foreign currency forward
contracts were remeasured at fair value at the end of each reporting period with changes in fair value recognized in the
consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income. As of December 31, 2012, the total notional value
amounted to US$196 million with a weighted average forward exchange rate of US$1.00 to RMB6.31. The Group
recorded a derivative liability of RMB9.3 million in “other payables and accruals” for the current liability and a
corresponding unrealized loss of RMB9.3 million and realized loss of RMB13.2 million as other expense in 2012.

23. CERTAIN RISKS AND CONCENTRATIONS

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Group to significant concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of
cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments, accounts receivable, accounts receivable due from related parties
and prepayments and other current assets. As of December 31, 2011 and 2012, substantially all of the Group’s cash and
cash equivalents and short-term investments were held by major financial institutions located in the PRC and Hong
Kong, which management believes are of high credit quality.

Edgar Filing: DXP ENTERPRISES INC - Form 5

Explanation of Responses: 57



Accounts receivable are typically unsecured and are derived from revenue earned from customers in China. The risk
with respect to accounts receivables is mitigated by credit evaluations the Group performs on its customers and its
ongoing monitoring process of outstanding balances.

No individual customer accounted for more than 10% of net revenues during the years ended December 31, 2010,
2011 and 2012.

The Group derived the majority of its net revenues from two MMORPGs, Mir II and Woool, including their sequels,
which accounted for approximately 45.7% and 21.1% of the net revenues, respectively, for 2010, 39.7% and 16.8% of
the net revenues, respectively, for 2011, and 33.0% and 15.7% of the net revenues, respectively, for 2012.

The Group’s exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk primarily relates to cash and cash equivalents and
short-term investments denominated in the U.S. dollar, as well as borrowings with related parties denominated in the
U.S. dollar and certain limited activity in foreign currency forward contracts entered into in relation to the rate of
USD/RMB exchange as hedges. On July 21, 2005, the People’s Bank of China, or PBOC, announced an adjustment of
the exchange rate of the U.S. dollar to RMB from 1:8.27 to 1:8.11 and modified the system by which the exchange
rates are determined. This adjustment has resulted in an appreciation of the RMB against the U.S. dollar. While the
international reaction to the RMB revaluation has generally been positive, there remains significant international
pressure on the PRC government to adopt an even more flexible currency policy, which could result in a further
revaluation and a significant fluctuation of the exchange rate of RMB against the U.S. dollar.
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The RMB is not a freely convertible currency. The PRC State Administration for Foreign Exchange, under the
authority of the People’s Bank of China, controls the conversion of RMB into foreign currencies. The value of the
RMB is subject to changes in central government policies and to international economic and political developments
affecting supply and demand in China’s foreign exchange trading system market. The Company’s aggregate amount of
cash and cash equivalents denominated in RMB amounted to RMB1,172 million and RMB1,640 million as of
December 31, 2011 and 2012, respectively.

24. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Operating lease agreements

The Group has entered into leasing arrangements relating to office premises and computer equipment that are
classified as operating leases, which expire at various dates through December 2014. Future minimum lease payments
for non-cancelable operating leases as of December 31, 2012 are as follows:

Office Premises Server leasing and
maintenance fees Total

RMB RMB RMB

2013 28,328 76,373 104,701
2014 26,164 2,832 28,996
2015 24,172 — 24,172
2016 10,531 — 10,531
2017 562 — 562
Total 89,757 79,205 168,962

As of December 31, 2012, the Group had leased servers under operating lease arrangements where the lease payments
are calculated based on certain formulas, as specified in the agreements, with reference to the actual usage of the
servers. The server leasing rental expenses under these operating leases amounted to approximately RMB20,344,
RMB10,787 and RMB3,748 during the years ended December 31, 2010, 2011 and 2012, respectively. As the future
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lease payments for these arrangements are based on the actual number of users and thus cannot be reasonably
estimated, they are not included in the minimum lease payments as disclosed above.

Total rental expenses including server leasing rental, office rental and server maintenance were approximately
RMB134,792, RMB157,969 and RMB168,360 during the years ended December 31, 2010, 2011 and 2012,
respectively, and were charged to the statements of operations and comprehensive income when incurred.

As of December 31, 2012, the Group also has commitments in respect of the maintenance contracts in relation to the
servers owned by the Group and server leasing contracts amounting to RMB79,205.

As of December 31, 2012, there are no material capital lease obligations.

Capital commitments

As of December 31, 2012, capital commitments for purchase of equipment and game licenses were approximately
RMB299,715.

Contingencies

The Company accounts for loss contingencies in accordance with ASC 450, “Contingencies” and other related guidance.
Set forth below is a description of certain loss contingencies as well as the opinion of management as to the likelihood
of loss.
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Current PRC laws and regulations include limitations on foreign ownership in PRC companies that conduct online
gaming business. Specifically, foreign investors are not allowed to own any equity interests in any entity conducting
online gaming business. Since the Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands, neither the Company nor its PRC
subsidiaries are eligible to hold licenses to conduct online gaming business in China. To comply with PRC laws and
regulations, the Company conducts its operations in China through a series of contractual arrangements entered into
among its wholly owned PRC subsidiaries and its VIEs.

The Company’s VIEs hold the licenses that are essential to the operation of the Company’s business. In the opinion of
management, (i) the ownership structure of the Company, its PRC subsidiaries, and its VIEs is in compliance with
existing PRC laws and regulations; (ii) the contractual arrangements with the VIEs and their shareholders are valid
and binding, and will not result in any violation of PRC laws or regulations currently in effect; and (iii) the Company’s
business operations are in compliance with existing PRC laws and regulations in all material respects. However, there
are substantial uncertainties regarding the interpretation and application of current and future PRC laws and
regulations. Accordingly, the Company cannot be assured that PRC regulatory authorities will not ultimately take a
contrary view to its opinion. If the current ownership structure of the Company and its contractual arrangements with
the VIEs and their shareholders were found to be in violation of any existing or future PRC laws and regulations, the
Company may be required to restructure its ownership structure and operations in the PRC to comply with the
changing and new PRC laws and regulations.

Under PRC Ministry of Commerce (“MOFCOM”) security review rules promulgated in September 2011, a national
security review is required for certain mergers and acquisitions by foreign investors raising concerns regarding
national defense and security. Foreign investors are prohibited from circumventing the national security review
requirements by structuring transactions through proxies, trusts, indirect investment, leases, loans, control through
contractual arrangements, or offshore transactions. Management has concluded there is no need to submit the existing
contractual arrangements with its VIEs and their shareholders to the MOFCOM for national security review based
upon analysis of the rules. However, there are substantial uncertainties regarding the interpretation and application of
the MOFCOM security review rules, and any new laws, rules, regulations or detailed implementation measures in any
form relating to such rules. Therefore, the Company cannot be assured that the relevant PRC regulatory authorities,
such as the MOFCOM, would not ultimately take a contrary view to the opinion of management. If the MOFCOM or
another PRC regulatory authority determines that the Company needs to submit the existing contractual arrangements
with its VIEs and their shareholders for national security review, the Company may face sanctions by the MOFCOM
or other PRC regulatory authority, which may include, among others, requiring the Company to restructure its
ownership structure, discontinuation or restriction of operations in the PRC, or invalidation of the agreements that the
PRC subsidiaries have entered into with the VIEs and their shareholders.
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In such case, the Company may not be able to operate or control business in the same manner as it currently does, and
therefore, may not be able to consolidate the VIEs. In addition, the relevant regulatory authorities would have broad
discretion in dealing with such violations which may adversely impact the financial statements, operations and cash
flows of the Company (including restrictions on the Company to carry out business).

If the VIEs and their shareholders fail to perform their respective obligations under the current contractual
arrangements, the Company may have to incur substantial costs and expend significant resources to enforce those
arrangements and rely on legal remedies under PRC laws. The PRC laws, rules and regulations are relatively new, and
because of the limited volume of published decisions and their non-binding nature, the interpretation and enforcement
of these laws, rules and regulations involve substantial uncertainties. These uncertainties may impede the ability of the
Company to enforce these contractual arrangements, or suffer significant delay or other obstacles in the process of
enforcing these contractual arrangements and may materially and adversely affect the results of operations and the
financial position of the Company.

In the opinion of management, the likelihood of loss in respect of the Company’s current ownership structure or the
contractual arrangements with the VIEs and their shareholders is remote.
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25. LITIGATION

On November 8, 2010, a former shareholder of Chengdu Simo filed a claim with the Sichuan Superior People’s Court,
or the Sichuan Court, against Shanghai Shulong, alleging that Shanghai Shulong had failed to pay RMB48.8 million
of non-contingent consideration (see Note 15) in connection with the purchase of all of the outstanding shares of
Chengdu Simo Technology Co., Ltd., or Chengdu Simo by Shanghai Shulong. This amount represents the final
payment amount to be paid by Shanghai Shulong to the shareholder upon the achievement of certain milestones by
Chengdu Simo relating to its game “Qi Xia Tian Xia.” The shareholder has requested the court to require Shanghai
Shulong to pay RMB48.8 million plus accrued interest. Shanghai Shulong does not believe that the milestone has been
achieved yet.. Management has concluded that payment of additional amounts beyond the existing non-contingent
consideration already recorded is remote. On September 13, 2011, Shanghai Shulong filed a claim with Shanghai
No.1 Intermediate People’s Court against the former shareholder of Chengdu Simo, alleging that the former
shareholder had failed to perform the obligations in Share Purchase Agreement. There still are no verdicts on the
foregoing cases.

26. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

In February 2013, the Group extended the payment terms of certain unsecured loans provided to Shanda and
companies under common control of Shanda.

The unsecured loan receivable from a company under the common control of Shanda denominated in RMB in the
amount of RMB115.0 million (Note 21) was extended. This loan carried an interest rate of 5.93% and was originally
due in February 2013. The term of this loan was extended to February 2014 and the interest rate was revised to 5.43%.

Certain other loans receivable from Shanda denominated in USD in the aggregate amount of US$160.0 million
(RMB1,005.7 million) (Note 21) were extended in February 2013. These loans carried an interest rate of 3% and were
originally due in February 2013. The terms of these loans were subsequently extended to February 2014 and the
interest rate remained at 3%.

Edgar Filing: DXP ENTERPRISES INC - Form 5

Explanation of Responses: 63



In February 2013, the Group extended the terms of unsecured borrowings by the Group from companies under
common control of Shanda. These loans were denominated in RMB with aggregate amount of RMB926.0 million
(US$148.6 million) (Note 21) and were originally due in February 2013. The terms of these loans were subsequently
extended to February 2014 and the interest rate remained unchanged at 3%.

27. RESTRICTED NET ASSETS

Relevant PRC laws and regulations permit PRC companies to pay dividends only out of their retained earnings, if any,
as determined in accordance with PRC accounting standards and regulations. In addition, PRC companies can only
distribute dividends upon approval of the shareholders after they have met the PRC requirements for appropriation to
statutory reserves. The statutory general reserve fund requires annual appropriations of 10% of net after-tax income to
be set aside prior to payment of any dividends. As a result of these and other restrictions under PRC laws and
regulations, the PRC subsidiaries and the VIEs are restricted in their ability to transfer a portion of their net assets to
the Company either in the form of dividends, loans or advances, which restricted portion amounted to approximately
RMB1,279.1 million, or 30.1% of the Group’s total consolidated net assets as of December 31, 2012. Even though the
Company currently does not require any such dividends, loans or advances from the PRC subsidiaries or the VIEs for
working capital and other funding purposes, the Company may in the future require additional cash resources from the
PRC subsidiaries or the VIEs due to changes in business conditions, to fund future acquisitions and developments, or
merely declare and pay dividends to or distributions to the Company’s shareholders.

28. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION - CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The condensed financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with SEC Regulation S-X
Rule 5-04 and Rule 12-04.

The Company records its investment in subsidiaries under the equity method of accounting. Such investment and
long-term loans to subsidiaries are presented on the balance sheet as “Interests in subsidiaries” and the profit of the
subsidiaries is presented as “Equity in profit of subsidiaries” on the statement of operations.
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These statements should be read in conjunction with the notes to the consolidated financial statements of the Group.
Certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in financial statements prepared in accordance with
U.S. GAAP have been condensed or omitted.

As of December 31, 2011 and 2012, there were no material contingencies, significant provisions for long-term
obligations, or guarantees of the Company, except for those which have been separately disclosed in the consolidated
financial statements of the Group, if any.
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Financial Information of Shanda Games Limited

Condensed Statements of Operations

For the Years Ended December 31
2010 2011 2012 2012
RMB RMB RMB US$ (Note 2(5))

Net revenues — — — —
Cost of revenues — — — —
Gross profit — — — —
Operating expenses
Product development — — — —
Sales and marketing — — — —
General and administrative (105,185 ) (88,940 ) (31,379 ) (5,037 )
Total operating expenses (105,185 ) (88,940 ) (31,379 ) (5,037 )
Loss from operations (105,185 ) (88,940 ) (31,379 ) (5,037 )
Interest income 1,540 5,103 28,128 4,515
Interest expenses (10,915 ) (13,610 ) (134,253 ) (21,549 )
Other income(expenses) 294 (405 ) (45 ) (8 )
Income tax expenses — — — —
Equity in profit of subsidiaries 1,403,087 1,362,726 1,250,979 200,796
Net income 1,288,821 1,264,874 1,113,430 178,717
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Financial Information of Shanda Games Limited

Condensed Balance Sheets

December 31,
2011 2012 2012
RMB RMB US$ (Note 2(5))

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 29,127 130,506 20,948
Prepayment and other current assets 8,163 3,348 537
Other receivables due from related parties 484,687 1,036,060 166,299
Investment in subsidiaries 5,446,987 6,715,099 1,077,848
Total assets 5,968,964 7,885,013 1,265,632

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:
Other payables and accruals 2,726 1,162 187
Other payables due to related parties 797,054 3,620,316 581,101
Dividend payable 1,823,314 11,489 1,844
Current liabilities 2,623,094 3,632,967 583,132
Total liabilities 2,623,094 3,632,967 583,132

Shareholders’ Equity
Class A ordinary shares (US$0.01 par value, 16,000,000,000 shares
authorized, 151,222,556  and 131,860,314 issued and outstanding as of
December 31, 2011 and 2012)

11,022 9,796 1,572

Class B ordinary shares (US$0.01 par value, 4,000,000,000 shares
authorized, 409,087,000 and 409,087,000 issued and outstanding as of
December 31, 2011 and 2012)

29,896 29,896 4,799

Additional paid-in capital 1,561,343 1,577,978 253,283
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (68,480 ) (38,322 ) (6,152 )
Retained earnings 1,812,089 2,672,698 428,998
Total Shanda Games Limited shareholders’ equity 3,345,870 4,252,046 682,500
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 5,968,964 7,885,013 1,265,632
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Financial Information of Shanda Games Limited

Condensed Statements of Cash Flows

For the Years Ended December 31,
2010 2011 2012 2012
RMB RMB RMB US$

(Note 2(5))
Net cash generated / (used) in operating activities 1,090 (7,603 ) 4,796 770
Net cash generated / (used) in investing activities (609,701) 530,776 (533,097) (85,568 )
Net cash generated / (used) in financing activities 679,627 (769,060) 629,821 101,093
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (7,562 ) (8,191 ) (141 ) (22 )
Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 63,454 (254,078) 101,379 16,273
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 219,751 283,205 29,127 4,675
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 283,205 29,127 130,506 20,948
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